FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/2/2020 12:58 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/2/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. <u>99275-4</u> COA NO. 79736-1-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WAS	HINGTON
STATE OF WASHINGTON	I,
Respondent,	
v.	
JESSE ALLEN,	
Petitioner.	
ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR CO STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING	
The Honorable Michael Ramsey Sco	ott, Judge
PETITION FOR REVIEW	
	CASEY G

Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The court ran Allen's state sentence consecutive to a previously imposed federal sentence. Where the State deliberately refrained from prosecuting charges against Allen until he was sentenced in his federal case, should the sentencing statute be interpreted to preclude imposition of consecutive sentences because the State manipulated the timing of the charges and subsequent sentencing to take advantage of the statute?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The King County Prosecutor's Office (the State) originally filed charges against Jesse Allen in 2016. CP 3; RP¹ 21-22. Allen was arraigned on November 7, 2016. CP 3. Allen was then charged in federal court with the production and possession of child pornography. CP 3; RP

- 1 -

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings is cited as follows: RP - two consecutively paginated volumes consisting of 1/17/19, 3/1/19.

22. The State dismissed its case on November 18, 2016. CP 3. Allen pleaded guilty in federal court. CP 3. His federal sentencing was set for August 2, 2018. CP 3. He received a total of 20 years in prison. RP 22.

On the same day as Allen's federal sentencing, the State refiled charges against Allen in state court, alleging two counts of first degree child molestation. CP 1-2. Allen later pleaded guilty to these charges. CP 7-37.

The State recommended that the sentence run consecutive to the federal sentence. RP 22. The defense asked the court to run the sentences concurrent. CP 76-79.

The defense memorandum set forth the procedural history of the case in additional detail. CP 77. The federal charges stemmed from the same incidents originally charged by the State and were based on the fact that Allen took videos of his molestation of the child. CP 77. The decision to prosecute the conduct in two different courts was made by Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Cecelia Gregson who, as a "cross-designated" prosecutor, worked at both the King County Prosecutor's Office and the U.S. Attorney's Office. CP 77. The reason Allen's conduct was divided and charged in different courts was because he faced a longer federal prison sentence on the manufacturing charges (20 years) than he would have faced had he been charged with sexual exploitation in state

court, which carried a 10-year sentence and would have run concurrently with the molestation charges. CP 77.

Defense counsel argued that while the law permitted the court to run the sentences consecutively, there was a presumption that they run concurrently. CP 100. Counsel asked the court to follow legislative intent "in this type of circumstance." RP 32-33. Counsel asked the court to consider RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b), which governs how sentences for multiple "serious violent" offenses are structured. RP 33-34. That statute calls for consecutive sentencing on such offenses but they are not scored against one another to ameliorate the harshness of the result. RP 33-34. In that circumstance, the legislature does not allow the State to "double dip" by permitting the offenses to both be scored against one another and to run consecutive. RP 33-34.

Counsel contrasted that scenario with the one Allen faced if the State's attempt to run the sentences consecutive were successful. RP 35-36. Prosecutor Gregson made the decision to pull the initial charges from state court so that the case could first be prosecuted in federal court. RP 35. According to defense counsel, "this was done for a very obvious reason" — to increase the sentence Allen faced for the offenses prosecuted in state court. RR 35-36. In waiting to prosecute in state court once the federal case had ended, the State sought to do an end run around

legislative intent by not only taking advantage of the tripling provision for scoring sex offenses but also running the sentences consecutively. RP 36-37. Allen's offender score was drastically increased by his federal convictions, such that his total sentence, if run consecutive, would be longer than if he had been convicted of murder. CP 78-79.

Counsel rhetorically asked: "Was the legislative intent really to tell the State that, hey, if you don't like what the sentencing structure is here, if you don't like the amount of time that we said that the Court can and should give, what you should do is try to find a whole 'nother jurisdiction and send it over there so that he can get a whole bunch of time, and then end it back over, and we'll run it consecutively, so that he can get a lot more time than what is our intent[?]" RP 37-38. Counsel continued: "That's clearly not what the legislature intended this Court to do. It's not how the law is set up, it's not the way the statutes read." RP 38. "Considering the increase in the offender score due to the federal charges and the fact that the government has essentially engaged in a form of forum shopping by taking conduct that occurred simultaneously (i.e. the molestation and the recording of it) and separating it out by prosecuting it in two different jurisdictions, disregarding the presumption of concurrence and running the sentence consecutively seems patently unfair." CP 79. Counsel asked the court to follow legislative intent and run the sentences concurrently. RP 38.

During allocution, Allen expressed remorse for what he had done. RP 40. The court imposed an indeterminate sentence of 198 months in prison for each molestation offense, the top of the standard range. CP 48, 51. Describing the offenses as horrifying and sickening, the court expressly ordered the current sentence to run consecutive to the federal sentence under "the egregious facts of this case." CP 51; RP 42-43.

On appeal, Allen argued a consecutive sentence was not permitted because the State purposefully delayed prosecution of the state charges so that the state sentence could run consecutive to the federal sentence. Brief of Appellant (Corrected) at 8-15; Reply Brief at 1-10. The Court of Appeals rejected this argument, concluding the trial court properly exercised its discretion to run the sentences consecutively. Slip op. at 10.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

THE LEGISLATURE DID NOT INTEND TO ALLOW THE COURT TO RUN A SENTENCE CONSECUTIVE TO A PRIOR SENTENCE WHERE THE STATE INTENTIONALLY DELAYS CHARGES TO MANIPULATE THE TIMING OF THE SENTENCES.

This Court recognizes the integrity of the sentencing process must be protected. State v. Ford, 137 Wn.2d 472, 484, 973 P.2d 452 (1999). The legislature did not intend for any party to game the Sentencing

Reform Act by intentionally delaying proceedings to reap the benefit of a sentencing rule.

The State withdrew its original charges and refrained from refiling in state court until Allen was sentenced in federal court. By delaying the charges and subsequent sentencing in this manner, the State was able to rely on RCW 9.94A.589(3), which permits consecutive sentencing, to ramp up Allen's prison time. The legislature did not intend for RCW 9.94A.589(3) to operate in this manner because the legislature does not intend strained, unlikely or absurd results, nor unconstitutional ones. Correctly interpreting the statute to preclude consecutive sentences under these circumstances, the trial court lacked authority to impose consecutive sentences under RCW 9.94A.589(3).

This case involves interpretation of a commonly used sentencing statute and its constitutional implications. This case thus raises an issue of substantial public importance warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

In justifying its refusal to allow a defendant to manipulate the sentencing scheme through deliberate delay, the Court of Appeals in <u>State v. Moore</u>, 63 Wn. App. 466, 471, 820 P.2d 59 (1991) proclaimed "we would not countenance a prosecutor's action of deliberately scheduling sentencing hearings for a defendant's multiple convictions in such a way as to avoid the presumption of concurrent sentences under the provisions

of the [Sentencing Reform Act]." Allen's case provided an opportunity for the Court of Appeals to show it really meant what it said. Turns out, it didn't. Not for this panel of judges anyway. A defendant will not be permitted reap the reward of a more lenient sentencing through deliberate delay, but the State, under the cloak of prosecutorial discretion, is free to deliberately delay and manipulate the timing of the sentencing process to obtain a harsher sentence. Slip op. at 8-10. That is what the Court of Appeals decision stands for. That is not fair. That is a double standard.

The purpose of statutory interpretation is to give effect to the legislature's intent. State v. Elgin, 118 Wn.2d 551, 555, 825 P.2d 314 (1992). In determining legislative intent, statutory interpretation begins with the statute's plain language and ordinary meaning. State v. J.P., 149 Wn.2d 444, 450, 69 P.3d 318 (2003). But courts must "avoid a literal reading of a statute if it would result in unlikely, absurd, or strained consequences." Elgin, 118 Wn.2d at 555. The courts employ this "stopgap principle" because it is presumed the legislature does not intend such results. J.P., 149 Wn.2d at 450.

RCW 9.94A.589(3) provides in relevant part:

whenever a person is sentenced for a felony that was committed while the person was not under sentence for conviction of a felony, the sentence shall run concurrently with any felony sentence which has been imposed by any court in this or another state or by a federal court subsequent to the commission of the crime being sentenced unless the court pronouncing the current sentence expressly orders that they be served consecutively.

Generally speaking, "[a] sentencing court is granted broad discretion in choosing whether to impose a consecutive sentence." State v. Mathers, 77 Wn. App. 487, 494, 891 P.2d 738, review denied, 128 Wn.2d 1002, 907 P.2d 297 (1995). The question posed by Allen's case, however, is whether the legislature intended to authorize consecutive sentences when the State intentionally delays its prosecution until a felony sentence is entered in another court. Permitting the State to secure consecutive sentences by deliberating manipulating the timing of the charge and subsequent sentence is an unlikely, absurd, or strained consequence that cannot be what the legislature intended in enacting this provision. Statutes are interpreted to avoid "consequences unintended by the Legislature." Cherry v. Municipality of Metro. Seattle, 116 Wn.2d 794, 802, 808 P.2d 746 (1991).

Moore is instructive because it shows an attempt to manipulate the timing of sentencing to achieve advantage will not be condoned. In that case, defendant Evans argued the trial court erred by running his sentence for second degree assault consecutively with the sentences imposed at the same hearing for two prior burglary convictions. Moore, 63 Wn. App. at

- 467. On appeal, the court addressed former RCW 9.94A.400(1)(a) and (3),² which provided:
 - (1)(a) Except as provided in (b) of this subsection, whenever a person is to be sentenced for two or more current offenses, the sentence range for each current offense shall be determined by using all other current and prior convictions as if they were prior convictions for the purpose of the offender score[.] ... Sentences imposed under this subsection shall be served concurrently. Consecutive sentences may only be imposed under the exceptional sentence provisions of RCW 9.94A.120 and 9.94A.390(2)(e) or any other provision of RCW 9.94A.390[.]
 - (3) Subject to subsections (1) and (2) of this section, whenever a person is sentenced for a felony that was committed while the person was not under sentence of a felony, the sentence shall run concurrently with any felony sentence which has been imposed by any court in this or another state or by a federal court subsequent to the commission of the crime being sentenced unless the court pronouncing the current sentence expressly orders that they be served consecutively.

Evans argued section (1)(a), not (3), controlled his sentence because all three felony convictions were sentenced during the same hearing and, thus, were current offenses pursuant to subsection (1)(a). <u>Id.</u> at 470. Since no exceptional sentence was imposed, the sentences needed to run concurrent under (1)(a). <u>Id.</u> If the plain language of the statute controlled, Evans was undoubtedly correct. <u>See State v. Smith</u>, 74 Wn. App. 844, 852-53, 875 P.2d 1249 (1994), <u>review denied</u>, 125 Wn.2d 1017,

² Now codified at RCW 9.94A.589.

890 P.2d 19 (1995) (under plain language of statute, former RCW 9.94A.400(1)(a) rather than (3) applied where multiple offenses were sentenced on the same day, requiring the sentences to run concurrent absent a finding supporting an exceptional sentence).

The State, however, successfully argued "the unique facts of this case" required that the trial court be able to sentence Evans under section (3), which permitted consecutive sentences, rather than (1)(a), which did Moore, 63 Wn. App. at 470. The unique fact was that Evans absconded to avoid sentencing on prior burglary convictions and, in doing so, prevented those sentences from being entered when they normally would have been. Id. To order sentence for the assault conviction to run concurrently with the burglary sentences "would in effect reward Evans for evading the punishment for the burglary convictions. This could not have been the Legislature's intent when it created the presumption of concurrent sentences in subsection (1)(a)." <u>Id.</u> at 471. To reach this result, the Moore court relied on a familiar principle of statutory construction: "Statutes should be construed to effect their purpose and unlikely, absurd or strained consequences should be avoided." Id. (quoting State v. Stannard, 109 Wn.2d 29, 36, 742 P.2d 1244 (1987)).

Of importance to Allen's appeal, the <u>Moore</u> court reasoned: "Clearly, we would not countenance a prosecutor's action of deliberately

scheduling sentencing hearings for a defendant's multiple convictions in such a way as to avoid the presumption of concurrent sentences under the provisions of the SRA." <u>Id.</u> Evans "directly caused the sentencing delay for the burglary convictions" and so the trial court properly acted under the authority of subsection (3) to run the sentences consecutively with the burglary sentences. <u>Id.</u>

In short, <u>Moore</u>, interpreting the sentencing provisions, did not allow a party to game the system. <u>Smith</u>, in subsequently distinguishing <u>Moore</u>, recognized subsection (3) did not apply "where multiple independent charges were sentenced in the same hearing without any fault on the defendant in manipulating sentencing dates." <u>Smith</u>, 74 Wn. App.at 852 n.6.

Here, the State manipulated Allen's sentencing date by delaying its case against him in state court until he was sentenced in federal court. There was no impediment to prosecuting Allen in state court while his federal case was pending. The State was the first to file charges against Allen. CP 3; RP 21-22. Defense counsel identified the State's strategy in dismissing the initial charges and then refiling them later. Counsel informed the court of the procedural history of this case and the State's deliberate decision to let the federal case run its course so that it could increase Allen's sentence in the state case by running it consecutive to the

federal case. RP 36-38; CP 79. The State did not dispute any of this in the trial court. It did not dispute that it withdrew the initial charges and waited to prosecute Allen in state court until a federal sentence was imposed so that it could ask for consecutive sentences under RCW 9.94A.589(3).

The <u>Moore</u> court refused to interpret the plain language of a statute in a manner that would have allowed the defendant to reap a sentencing benefit based on deliberate delay, relying on the principle that to do so would produce an absurd result. <u>Moore</u>, 63 Wn. App. at 470-71. The same reasoning should apply to a circumstance where the State is the manipulator of timing, as recognized in <u>Moore</u>. <u>Id</u>. at 471. In that circumstance, the trial court lacks statutory authority to impose a consecutive sentence because the statute cannot be read in a manner that permits that result.

The doctrine of constitutional avoidance also supports Allen's interpretation. Statutes are construed to avoid constitutional problems if possible. State v. Chester, 133 Wn.2d 15, 21, 940 P.2d 1374 (1997). "Due process requires the government to treat its citizens in a fundamentally fair manner." In re Detention of Ross, 114 Wn. App. 113, 121, 56 P.3d 602 (2002), review denied, 149 Wn.2d 1015, 69 P.3d 875 (2003); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, § 3. Pre-accusatorial

delay may constitute a violation of due process if "the delay is caused by the prosecutor solely to gain a tactical advantage over the defendant." State v. Madera, 24 Wn. App. 354, 355, 600 P.2d 1303 (1979) (citing United States v. Lovasco, 431 U.S. 783, 97 S. Ct. 2044, 52 L. Ed. 2d 752 (1977)). Consistent with due process, RCW 9.94A.589(3) cannot be read to permit the State to gain a tactical advantage by intentionally delaying the timing of a charge and subsequent sentencing to reap the benefit of the consecutive sentence provision. The Court of Appeals' contrary interpretation in this case violates due process of law.

The Court of Appeals, dismissing its warning in Moore as dicta, said Allen's reliance on Moore was misplaced because "Allen does not claim the prosecutor purposefully delayed sentencing hearings for multiple convictions in the same court." Slip op. 8-9. That is an artificial distinction, one that ignores the spirit of fair play at issue in Moore. The integrity of the sentencing laws can be compromised in different ways. Intentional delay to gain a sentencing benefit is one way. Purposefully delaying sentencing hearings for multiple convictions in the same court to obtain a harsher sentencing result, as in Moore, and purposefully delaying a state prosecution to secure a later sentencing hearing and a harsher sentencing result, as in Allen's case, both amount to intentional manipulation of the sentencing process to the detriment of the defendant.

The Court of Appeals reframed the issue as one of prosecutorial discretion, seeking to find safe harbor in the nearly unfettered discretion the State has in bringing charges. Slip op. at 9. Does prosecutorial discretion give the State a free pass to manipulate the sentencing laws for its own benefit?

The Court of Appeals shrugged off the question by chastising Allen for not challenging the State's exercise of its discretion "when the State dismissed the charges without prejudice and again when the State refiled the charges." Slip op. at 9 (citing State v. Oppelt, 172 Wn.2d 285, 287, 257 P.3d 653 (2011) (where a defendant is prejudiced from either negligent or intentional delay in prosecuting an offense so that "fundamental conceptions of justice would be violated by allowing the prosecution," he is entitled to relief.)). This ignores the fact that such a challenge would have been premature and doomed to fail. Allen could not show prejudice at that stage. Nothing in the record shows the State announced its intention to seek consecutive sentences when the State originally dismissed the charges or when it refiled them. Prejudice only became real at the sentencing stage, when the State successfully exhorted the court to impose a consecutive sentence.

The Court of Appeals concluded the trial court properly exercised its discretion to run the sentences consecutively due to the "egregious facts

of the case." Slip op. 9-10. The missed point, though, is that whatever reason the trial court had for running the sentence consecutively, it lacked authority to do so because RCW 9.94A.589(3) cannot be interpreted to allow for consecutive sentences when the State manipulates the timing of the sentencing hearing to achieve such a result. The trial court was in a position to impose consecutive sentences only because of the State's deliberate delay and manipulation of the sentencing process.

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