FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/5/2021 12:59 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 99275-4

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

JESSE LEE ALLEN,

Petitioner.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

JAMES M. WHISMAN Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

#

## Other Authorities

MERRIAM-WEBSTER ONLINE	DICTIONARY,
https://www.merriam-web	ster.com/dictionary
(last visited Jan. 28, 2021	)

#### A. <u>ISSUE</u>

Should this Court deny review where the sentencing court applied the plain language of RCW 9.94A.589(3) and exercised its discretion to run Allen's state sentence consecutive to his previously entered federal sentence, where Allen failed to present evidence that the prosecutor manipulated distinct state and federal charges which were based on physical molestation and production and possession of child pornography, respectively?

### B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

A full statement of the relevant facts was set forth by the court of appeals and in the State's response below. Those facts can be summarized as follows.

Allen sexually abused his girlfriend's six-year-old daughter by rubbing her vagina with his fingers and his penis. Evidence on his phone showed three locations in which Allen created videos of these acts using his cellular telephone. The videos were "many minutes long." RP 3/1/19 25. He was caught when his girlfriend found the videos.

Allen was initially charged in King County Superior Court with first degree rape of a child and first degree child molestation. P 77. Charges were dismissed when the federal government elected to prosecute Allen for production and possession of child pornography.<sup>1</sup> The case was litigated in federal court, Allen had a federal public defender, he elected to plead guilty to federal charges, and he was sentenced in federal court to a 20-year term with full knowledge that a state prosecution still awaited. He retained separate counsel to handle the state prosecution.

The State of Washington subsequently charged Allen in state court for child molestation, but not for possession of the videos. Although the facts might have supported charges of child rape, and a total of three charges rather than just two, Allen pled guilty after plea negotiations to child molestation.

At sentencing, Allen argued that the court *should not* impose a consecutive sentence. He did not, however, argue that the court *could not*, as a matter of law, impose a consecutive sentence, i.e., the argument he has made on appeal. RP (3/1/19) 24 (Prosecutor: "The State and the defendant agree that this Court has the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> There is no state crime directly comparable to the federal crime of *production* of child pornography. Under the most similar state statute, Sexual Exploitation of a Minor (RCW 9.68A.040), the state must prove that the child was posed for pictures. <u>See State v. Root</u>, 141 Wn.2d 701, 9 P.3d 214 (2000). The 6-year-old victim in this case appeared to be sleeping while she was abused, so a jury would likely not find that she was "posed."

discretion to sentence this individual to a consecutive sentence to that federal district court cause number."); at 38 ("So what we're asking the court to do is really kind of simple, and that is just follow what the statutes tell the court to do in this situation, what the *presumption* is.").

The sentencing court found that Allen's crimes were "horrifying," "extremely serious," and "sickening." RP 42. It concluded that "leniency is [not] in any way appropriate" and it imposed a 10-year sentence and exercised its discretion to run that sentence consecutive to the federal sentence. RP (3/1/19) 43. Because Allen never argued that the State had manipulated the prosecution in a manner to render RCW 9.94A.589(3) absurd and, thus, inapplicable as a matter of law, the court did not make any findings as to accusations of manipulation.

Allen appealed his sentence. Issues as to the scope of the appellate record arose even before Allen submitted his opening brief in the court of appeals. He wanted to present only a few documents from the federal court to support a double jeopardy claim. The State objected because supplying only a few documents would present an incomplete picture of litigation in the federal court. The State suggested that Allen could file a contemporaneous personal restraint petition that would allow both sides to supply all relevant documents. <u>State v. McFarland</u>, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335-39, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995)). The court of appeals denied Allen's motion to supply only a few documents, but instructed Allen to request permission to supplement the record after he had filed his opening brief.

Allen chose not to raise a double jeopardy claim and chose not to file a personal restraint petition. Thus, records from the federal prosecution are not a part of the record on appeal. Allen relied instead on unsupported allegations to argue that the State's manipulation of the proceedings rendered the normal statutory interpretation absurd. The court of appeals rejected his argument.

C. <u>REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE THIS STATUTE</u> <u>IS CLEAR AND THERE IS NO FACTUAL BASIS FOR</u> <u>ALLEN'S CLAIM THAT THE STATE MANIPULATED THE</u> <u>PROCESS TO MAKE APPLICATION OF THE STATUTE</u> <u>ABSURD</u>

Allen argues that this case presents a special set of circumstances that requires his state sentence to run concurrent to his federal sentence, despite clear language in RCW 9.94A.589(3) that authorizes a consecutive sentence at the court's discretion. He argues that a special interpretation is needed because the State manipulated the prosecution to engineer a consecutive sentence.<sup>2</sup> He argues that this "raises an issue of substantial public importance warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4)." Pet. at 6.

The State respectfully asks this Court to deny review. The circumstances Allen alleges – including deliberate manipulation to subvert statutory principles – are not established by competent evidence and have never been found by any court. Indeed, except for trial counsel's unsworn statements at sentencing, there is no proof of manipulation at all in the record on appeal. If there is no proof of manipulation and malfeasance, then Allen's argument – which is premised on case law disapproving of manipulations of court processes – collapses. Thus, the plain language of the statute should not be ignored. There is no absurdity.

If Allen truly wanted to establish malfeasance on the part of the State, he should have pursued a personal restraint petition, which would have allowed him to support his assertions with facts outside the appellate record. Or, he could have supplied the necessary documents through, as the court of appeals suggested,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Allen uses a variant of the word "manipulate" no fewer than 18 times in his petition. Allen apparently intends the term "manipulate" to suggest its second meaning: "to control or play upon by artful, unfair, or insidious means especially to one's own advantage." MERRIAM-WEBSTER ONLINE DICTIONARY, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary (last visited Jan. 28, 2021).

a motion to supplement the record under RAP 9.11. Either procedure would have permitted the State to respond with information relevant to his claims. He chose not to take either course. The current record is, thus, woefully insufficient to support his claims.

#### 1. THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF RCW 9.94A.589(3) GRANTS THE TRIAL COURT DISCRETION TO IMPOSE A STATE SENTENCE CONSECUTIVE TO A PREEXISTING FEDERAL SENTENCE.

RCW 9.94A.589 contains multiple separate provisions addressing when sentences should rule concurrently or consecutively under different circumstances. Under subsection (1)(a) the legislature made clear that most ordinary sentences imposed on the same date or arising from the same conduct should run concurrently, and that a consecutive sentence could be imposed only if it were an exceptional sentence under RCW 9.94A.535. Subsection (1)(b), dealt with the special situation involving multiple "serious violent offenses" arising from separate and distinct criminal conduct. A very special set of rules applies to that situation, with consecutive sentences *mandated* for the most serious offenses, but not as to non-serious violent offenses. Subsection (1)(c). Subsection (1)(c) deals with the even more unique situation where an offender is convicted of similar firearms offenses. Like with subsection (1)(b), consecutive sentences are *mandatory*.

Subsection (2) deals with a different scenario. Under subsection (2)(a), when a person under sentence for a felony is thereafter sentenced to another term of confinement, the second sentence *must* be consecutive to the first.

Subsection (3) deals with yet another scenario, but here the sentencing court *has discretion* to impose either concurrent or consecutive sentences. It provides that if a person is sentenced for a second felony case that was not committed while under sentence for another felony, the sentence is presumed concurrent, unless the court expressly states that the sentence should be consecutive. Unlike in subsection (1)(a), however, the court need not find "substantial and compelling reasons" to depart from the range.

There is nothing ambiguous or absurd about these provisions. The statute mandates concurrent sentences in some instances, mandates consecutive sentences in others, and grants discretion to the judge to impose either a consecutive or a concurrent sentence in the situation presented here, i.e., where a state sentence is imposed after a federal sentence has been imposed, where the state felony was not committed while the offender was under sentence for the federal offense.

Nor is there anything "absurd" about applying those provisions in this case. Child pornography is a federal offense and was properly prosecuted as such. Child molestation and child rape are offenses committed physically against a child and cannot be prosecuted in federal court unless the crimes occurred on federal property or land. When the case came on for sentencing in state court, the federal sentence had already been imposed, so the court had the authority to impose either consecutive or concurrent sentences under RCW 9.94A.589(3). That is precisely what the legislature has authorized.

The court chose to impose a consecutive sentence based on the nature of the offense and based on the defendant's lack of genuine remorse. RP (3/1/19) 42-43. Unfortunately, important sentencing documents considered by the sentencing court were not filed with the clerk.<sup>3</sup> For instance, the defendant had written a letter to Judge Zilly before the federal sentencing. RP (3/1/19) 25-26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This is yet another example of how the absence of a full record of the federal and state proceedings distort the view of this case.

The state sentencing judge referred obliquely to this letter in his comments, and noted that the defendant's oral statement at the state sentencing evinced some greater degree of remorse, but the judge did not find it sufficient to counteract the other worrisome feature of the defendant's crime and his subsequent behavior. RP (3/1/19) 42-43. Defense counsel's failure to ensure filing of these documents was perhaps not seen as significant because the defendant was not arguing that, as a matter of law, the court was unable to impose a consecutive sentence.

2. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ACCEPT ALLEN'S UNSUPPORTED FACTUAL ACCUSATIONS; THEY DO NOT PROVIDE A BASIS TO IGNORE PLAIN STATUTORY LANGUAGE.

Allen argues that the plain language of the statute should not control because the state engaged in malfeasance. He compares the state's conduct to situations like where a defendant absconded sentencing, <u>State v. Moore</u>, 63 Wn. App. 466, 820 P.2d 59 (1991), or where a state deliberately manipulated multiple offenses to ensure a longer sentence. <u>State v. Oppelt</u>, 172 Wn.2d 285, 287, 257 P.3d 653 (2011). Such cases relied on facts showing misconduct. But those comparisons are inapt because Allen has never supplied any evidence, like documents from the federal case or testimony from either his federal lawyer or his state lawyer, that would be necessary to prove the factual predicate, i.e., that state prosecutors manipulated the case.

There is no evidence as to why the federal case took place first, why the state case did not proceed simultaneously, what plea negotiations occurred in both courts, whether the federal lawyer and the state lawyer were aware of the possibility of a consecutive sentence, what they did with such information, and why they failed to challenge the prosecutor's conduct contemporaneous with the prosecutions. Instead, even though he knew he could present relevant documentation at both the trial court and the court of appeals, Allen has chosen to rely on unsworn assertions and innuendo from his trial lawyer, rather than on evidence. For example, Allen repeatedly suggests that Prosecutor Gregson manipulated the prosecution in federal and state court to engineer a consecutive sentence in state court. These assertions are not supported by any evidence. Prosecutor Gregson appeared in the state case only once, to enter an order to dismiss charges after federal charges were filed. That is neither surprising nor inappropriate. She never appeared again in the state case over the following years. Counsel of record for the State was Mr. Brian Wynne, who ultimately handled the sentencing hearing.

Allen has no evidence that this case was submitted to federal court simply to force an exceptional sentence in state court. A case can be initiated in federal court in a myriad of ways and for a whole host of reasons. A law enforcement agency might present the case directly to federal and state prosecutors. Federal prosecutors may decide to initiate a case, despite the existence of a state prosecution, because they have a greater capacity to pursue forensic investigation of cellular telephones, or because the investigation might reveal additional crimes, like dissemination of child pornography, or because the federal case will lead to greater punishment. Or, as happened here, prosecution for the "production" of child pornography was not possible. Any of these reasons would justify prosecution in federal court, none would be improper, and there is simply no evidence in this record as to why this case was filed in federal court.

It is also important to correct some misperceptions in the petition for review that might influence this Court's decision whether to grant review. For example, Allen asserts that the state is "double-dipping" because it gets to count the federal convictions in the state offender score. But convictions stemming from the videos filmed by Allen would have added to Allen's offender score even if they were prosecuted in state court as, for example, depictions of minors engaged in sexually explicit conduct, instead of in federal court as production of pornography. Allen's assertions on this point add no evidence as to the State's motives.

Allen also fails to acknowledge that the child *molestation* cases could not be prosecuted in federal court, at all. He ignores that the state did not simply recharge the same case as it had charged in 2016. In 2016, the State filed one count of first degree rape of a child and one count of first degree child molestation, CP 77, but upon the refiling of the Information in 2018, the State elected to charge two counts of first degree child molestation, CP 1-2, even though the evidence showed that the defendant committed two counts of child *rape* (involving penetration) and one count of child molestation. Had Allen been prosecuted wholly in state court, and had plea negotiations failed, he would have faced rape charges, not just molestation charges, and a longer sentencing term if convicted of these higher crimes. RP (3/1/19) 41-42. In other words, he would have faced additional and more serious charges.

#### D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The plain language of this statute gives a trial court discretion to impose a state sentence that is consecutive to the federal sentence. There is nothing absurd about this provision or about its application to this case. Allen has failed to support his accusations of malfeasance with any evidence, and no court has found manipulation or other malfeasance. Had Allen been serious about that claim, and had he wished the matter to be fully considered based on evidence, he would have supplied such evidence in the trial court or in the appellate court pursuant to RAP 9.11, as he was invited by the court of appeals to do. This case is fact-bound and factually unsupported. It does not present an issue of broad public import as required by RAP 13.4(b)(4). Allen's petition for review should be denied. He can pursue a personal restraint petition if he believes his claim has factual merit.

DATED this 5<sup>th</sup> day of February, 2021.

Respectfully submitted,

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

By: Som M. Whien

JAMES M. WHISMAN, WSBA #19109 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent Office WSBA #91002

## KING COUNTY PROSECUTOR'S OFFICE - APPELLATE UNIT

# February 05, 2021 - 12:59 PM

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